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Thorbiskope, situated close to SR 2049 and the Little River in rural Harnett County, and 
surrounded by cultivated fields, is the product of at least two distinct building periods. 
The rear ell was originally a ca. 1820 story-and-a-half Georgian4~deral coastal cottage. It 
now sits perpendicular to the road and ahs a two-plane roofline teminiscent of the coastal 
architecture of eastern North Carolina, particularly of the Wilmington and New Bern areas. 
The roof was extended after the addition of the front section to accomodate an extension of 
the rear shed rooms and central enclosed porch. Evidence of this alteration can be seen in 
the ceiling of the second floor rooms, and in the floor and ceiling of the shed rooms. The 
siding of the rearmost section of the sheds is plain weatherboard, while the sides of the 
original block are beaded weatherboard. The principal facade is balances by a full-facade 
engaged porch supported by replacement paneles posts. Roman numbering can be seen on the 
porch sill where porch decking has been removed. The facade is flush-sheathed, and pierced 
by two central six-panel doors with one nine-aver-nine sash window to the south and a pair 
of nine-aver-nine sash windows to the north. Two later gable dormers have been added to the 
front facade. 

On the south wall are two paved double-shouldered chimneys with free-standing stacks, laid 
in 1:5 common bond brick. The chimney on the' north wall has been incorporated into the later 
and larger Greek Revival front section. Originally the cottage had a Quaker floor plan, with 
one large room to the south and two smaller rooms with corner fireplaces on the north. An 
enclosed stair rises in the central wall. The winders have been replaced to form a straight 
flight which now opens onto the central section of the rear shed. The stairway is flush 
sheathed with a break where the door to the south room originally was. The finish is Georgia 
Federal with board-sheathed wainscot under plaster. The half-story contains two rooms with 
plaster over board-sheathed wainscot. Six-panel doors on Hand L hinges open into the rooms 
from the top of the stair landing. The mantels in the two downstairs rooms and the attic 
rooms have been removed, but the current owner has documentary photographs and plans to 
replace them. 

The Greek Revival front section was added about 1848 by John Elliot. It consists of a five­
by-two,-bay, two-story block under a low hip roof resting on a partial basement and piers. 
The plan consists of a center hall with one room on either side, with the exception of the 
west side of the second floor. This was divided into two rooms with corner fire-openings 
in a Quaker variation plan. 

A cornman bond single paved shoulder chimney is at either end of the main block. Bays are nin 
over nine sash with original shutters and shutter hardware. The central entry bays on both 
first and second floors are sheltered under a two-tier gable roof portico supported by 
solid paneled comumns with a balustrade on each level. The pedimented gable end is flush­
sheathed. The entries on each floor are identical and consist of double leaf three-panel doo 
with sidelights and transom. The facade under the portico is flushsheathed. 

The main hall is plastered over panel wainscot. The stair rises from the back to front, 
allowing equal access from the front section or the rear section, which is reached by a door 
at the end of the hall. The room to the west is the most' elaborately finished and was 
traditionally used as a dining room. It is plaster over paneled waidscot. There are two 
doors in the south wall, one opens into a butler's pantry in the shed addition of the 
earlier house, and the other opens onto the back porch. The room to the east is simply 
finished with plaster walls and wide molded baseboards. As in the older section, mantels 
have been removed, but documentary photographs will allow their reconstruction. 
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The second floor rooms are finished similarly to the east room on the first floor. The 
eastern room is plaster with wide baseboards. To the west side are two rooms arranged 
in a Quaker plan, with corner fireopenings with plain mantels. One window in the rear room 
is partially covered by the pitch of the roof of the rear ell from an l890s remodeling. 
There is a small door at the rear of the hall which opens into the attic rooms of the rear 
section. The once-exterior chimney of the rear ell is plastered over where it extends into 
the rear of the stair hall. 

The rear of the original block has undergone several enlargements. It appears that there were 
early, and probably original shed rooms flanking a central porch. Beaded siding continues 
part of the way along the shed rooms, and it is obvious where it once broke to accomodate 
a lower pitched roofline. In addition, extremely wide flush boards sheath the walls of 
what was probably the central porch. 

When the front Greek Revival section was added, an entry, complete with double three-panel 
dorrs, transom and sidelights, was placed on the porch, enclosing a portion of it to 
create a room. The northern shed room was shelved and made into a butler's pantry. A door 
leads from the pantry to the front west room which traditionally served as a dining room. 
About 1893, according to family history, the shed roof on the back of the house was extended 
and raised somewhat, covering a portion of the second floor window of the rear west room, to 
accomodate the enlarging of the shed rooms and a porch along the central and north shed rooms. 
The Greek Revival entry was moved further out to open onto the new porch. The beaded corner 
boards and Federal window surrounds were moved to the rear wall as well. The window in the 
western first floor room of the front section of the house was replaced by a door which leads 
onto the porch. A door was also added to the rear wall, o.f the northern shed room to allow 
access to the porch. A kitchen was added and connected to the back porch by a gable roof 
walkway. 

Also on the property is a commissary which is contemporary with the origianl dwelling. The 
side-gabIe-roofed structure is sheathed with beaded weatherboard and has a boxed cornice. 
There are paired central doors leading into two flush-sheathed rooms.' The wide board doors 
are set in molded 'and mitered surrounds, and the door in the western room retains its wooden 
box lock. 

Thorbiskope is similar in form to many other houses along the Cape Fear, and throughout the 
coastal plain of North Caroina. It is similar to the houses built by George Elliot (Ellerslie, 
ca. 1797, NR) and Henry Elliot (Cool Springs, ca. 1815, NR) nearby. There has been some 
degree of vandalism at this house, but the present owner, Mr. Gerald Allen, has undertaken 
an extensive and academic restoration of the dwelling which will return it to its former 
status and condition. 

The structure, of course, is closely related to the surrounding environment. Archaeological 
remains, such as trash pits, wells, and structural remains, which may be present, can pro­
vide information valuable to the understanding and interpretation of the structure. Infor­
mation concerning use patterns, social standing and mobility, as well as structural details 
are often only evident in the archaeological record. Therefore, archaeological remains 
may well be an important component of the significance of the structure. At this time no 
investigation has been done to discover these remains, but it is probably that they exist, 
and this should be considered in any development of the property. 
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Thorbiskope is one of three Elliot family homes built on the Lower Little River. George 
Elliot immigrated to North Carolina from Dumfries, Scotland, in the third quarter of the 
eighteenth century and he and his soms built prosperous plantations along the river. All 
three Elliot houses began as modest story-and-a-half coastal cottages with Georgian/Federal 
detailing. During the l840s each owner built a more formal two-story house at one end 
of his cottage, creating a larger house more in keeping with his station as prosperous 
planter. Thorbiskope began as a ca. 1820 cottage and received a ca. 1848 Greek Revival 
addition which retains its one-bay portico and some of its interior woodwork, principally 
the formal parlor in the Greek Revival section which features paneled wainscot, as does 
the stairhall. Each of the three houses embodies the modest coastal cottage which was 
extremely widespread throughout coastal North Carolina throughout the second half of the 
eighteenth century and first half of the nineteenth century. As was the prevailing custom, 
during the nineteenth century, each house was enlarged by the addition of a two-story 
center hall plan house as family fortunes grew. John Elliot, the builder of Thorbiskope, 
which was named for an ancestral home in Scotland, owned 8,000 acres and 80 slaves in 
1860, making him the third largest slaveholder in the county at that time. 

A. Is associated with the settlement of the Lower Little River, a tributary of the Cape 
Fear River, by Scots in the third quarter of the 18th century, and the development 
of this area by these families. 

B. Associated with John Elliot, of the locally prominent Elliot family, who was a land­
holder, slaveholder, and planter. Two other Elliot family homes survive. 

C. Typical of many dwellings, Thorbiskope was built in two stages and consists of a story­
and-a-half coastal cottage (ca. 1820) with a more formal two-story Greek Revival 
dwelling (ca. 1848) added to create a home more in keeping with altered status and 
life-style of the family. Two other Elliot family homes survive nearby: Ellerslie (NR: 
built about 1790 by John Elliot's father, George Elliot, and enlarged in the l840s by 
the addition of a two-story Quaker-plan Greek Revival section; and Cool Springs (NR) 
built about 1815 by George Elliot Jr., son of George Elliot of Ellerslie, and enlarged 
by the addition of a two-story, two-room plan Federal/Greek Revival section in the l840s 
The three houses make an interesting and closely related unit for the study of history 
and architectural development in the Little River area. 

D. The ~L92 acres on which Thorbiskope now sits are likely to yield information about 
the development and history of the site and a prosperous plantation in the nineteenth 
century. 
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The John Elliot House, known as Thorbiskope, is located in southern Harnett County, 
near the border with Cumberland County (from which Harnett County was formed in 1855). 
The house was built by Elliot in the l820s with considerable expansion around 1848. 
Elliot was a member of one of the area's most prominent families. I 

John Elliot was one of four sons of George Elliot. George Elliot was born in 
Dunfries, Scotland in 1753 and was educated at the University of Edinburgh. He settled 
in the Lower Little River section of Cumberland County and built a plantation house cal­
led Ellerslie around 1790. He married a widow, Mary Turner, in 1790. They had eight 
children in addition to her two children by her earlier marriage. Elliot's four sons, 
Henry, Alexander, George, and John were all educated at the University of North Carolina. 
G'eorge Elliot became one of the area's largest landholders and represented Cumberland 
County in the 1788 Hillsborough Constitutional Convention. 2 

John Elliot was born in 1805. He inherited large amounts of land upon his father's 
death in 1819. Census records show that he operated a large plantation. He owned 38 
slaves in 1830 and 39 in 1840. 3 By 1850 Elliot owned 8,000 acres valued at $18,000. 
His livestock was valued at $2,405; This included 11 horses, 40 milk cows, 175 sheep, 
and 380 swine. Elliot grew 3,500 bushels of corn with a labor force of 82 slaves. 4 
The 1860 census figures were similar, although Elliot had disposed of over 1,000 acres. 
His remaining 7,000 acres were valued at $24,000 and his livestock was valued at $3,300. 
He grew 2,500 bushels of corn, and 12 tons of hay. His 80 slaves made him the third 
largest slaveholder in ~he county in 1860. 5 In both census years Elliot had relatively 
little land under cultivation and much of what he grew appears to have been for the 
purpose of feeding his slaves and large livestock holdings. 

John Elliot and his wife Mary had at least seven children, Mary, George, Alex, 
William, James, Isabella, and Eliza. 6 Unfortunately there are large gaps in Harnett 
County's records in the 1860-1890 period and it is not certain how John Elliot's land 
was disposed of after his death, nor is it certain when he died. He is not listed in 
either the 1870 or 1880 censuses. According to family tradition his immediate line 
died out in Harnett County.7 In 1895 Jonathan Elliot, a nephew of John Elliot, purchased 
the "old homestead ... commonly known as the 'John Elliot place'" from an Annie E. 
Elliot. He paid $2,000 for 1,400 acres. 8 

Jonathan Elliot was a prosperous and prominent landowner. He lived at Thorbiskope 
until his death in 1934 at the age of 85. He was described at his death as a "member 
of one of the Cape Fear sections oldest and most prominent families . . . / an / extensive 
landowner /he/ had a variety of agricultural interests."9 He and his wife Alice Hall 
Elliot had eight children. Two of these children, A. H. Elliot and George W. Elliot 
became physicians. IO 

In 1942 the heirs of Jonathan Elliot sold Thorobiskope to Charles E. Leigh, who 
paid $1,500 for 1,520 acres. He kept the property for only a short time before selling 
it to J. Bruce King, who sold it shortly thereafter to E. W. Grannis. Both of these 
transactions also took place in 1942. It was reported that Grannis paid "several 
thousand dollars" for the property.II Grannis sold the property to Barnes Haywood in 
1947. Haywood sold it to John Sorrells, Jr. in 1949 and Sorrells sold it to Burford 
Mitchell in 1954.12 The"house has remained vacant for several years." In '1985 it was 
purchased by Gerald Allen who is a descendent of George Elliot of Ellerslie~ bringing 
the property back into the family" for which it was built. 
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The John Elliot House is one of several built in the upper Cape Fear area by that 
influential family. It has served as the seat of a large antebellum plantation and 
remains one of Harnett County's most important historical properties. 

In addition to the historical significance of the Elliot family, Thorbiskope 
is important architecturally. The coastal cottage rear section, although somewhat 
altered, was prevalent in much of coastal North Carolina, especially along the Cape 
Fear River and its tributaries. The form is attributed by some to Caribbean sources. 
Brunswick Town, settled by planters and merchants from South Carolina and the Caribbean, 
had houses with piazzas as early as 1740. The rear sections of two other Elliot family 
houses, Ellerslie (1790s;NR) and Cool Springs (ca. 1815; NR) both in Cumberland County 
just across the river from Thorbiskope, are both modest coastal cottages with more 
formal two story front sections added in the l840s. The finish of Ellerslie and Cool 
Springs is slightly earlier than that of Thorbiskope, but similarities in detail make the 
family tradition that all three front sections were built by the same builder plausible 
and probable. This building plan -- a one and a half story coastal cottage with later 
more formal two-story front section added later -- is found throughout the coastal plain 
of North Carolina. 
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lAccording to the Elliot family the name "Thorbiskope" is believed to be a corrup­
tion of a Scottish name. Telephone interview with Mrs. William Elliot, Jr., May 11, 
1982, hereinafter cited as Elliot interview, notes in file. 

2Lucille Miller Johnson, Hometown Heritage (Fayetteville): The Colonel Robert 
Rowan Chapter, National Society of the Daughters of the American Revolution, 1978), 
21; North Carolina Biography, Volumes IV, V, and VI of History of North Carolina by 

. R. D. W. Connor, William K. Boyd, J. G. de Roulhac Hamilton, and others (Chicago and 
New York: Lewis Publishing Company, 6 volumes, 1919), V, 271. John A. Oates, The 
Story of Fayetteville and the Upper Cape Fear (Fayetteville: n.p., 1950), 828.---

3Cumberland County Will Book A, p. 100; Fifth Census of the United States, 1830, 
Cumberland County, North Carolina; Sixth Census of the United States, 1840, Cumberland 
County, North Carolina. 

4Seventh Census of the United States, 1850, Cumberland County, North Carolina, 
Agricultural Schedule, Population Schedule, Slave Schedule. 

5Eighth Census or the United States, 1860, Cumberland County, North Carolina, 
Agricultural Schedule, Population Schedule, Slave Schedule; Malcolm Fowler, They 
Passed This Way: A Personal Narrative of Harnett County History (Lillington: 
Harnett County Centennial, Inc., 1955), 119. 

6Seventh Census of the United States, 1850, Cumberland County, Population Schedule. 

7Ninth Census of the United States, 1870, Harnett County, North Carolina, 
Population Schedule; Tenth Census of the United States, 1880, Harnett County, North 
Carolina, Population Schedule; Elliot interview. 

8 Harnett County Deed Book J-2, p. 285. 

9Fayettevil1e Observer, January 1, 1934. 

10 Twelfth Census of the United States, 1900, Harnett County, North Carolina, 
Population Schedule; Elliot interviw. 

11 Harnett County Deed Book 281, p. 571; Book 286, pp. 193, 195. 

12 Harnett County Deed Book 310, p. 336; Book 313, p. 223; Book 357, p. 144. 
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